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UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
EASTERN DISTRICT OF WISCONSIN

GREEN BAY DIVISION
__________________________________________________________________

ELTON LOUIS,

Plaintiff,
vs. Case No.  08-C-558

STOCKBRIDGE-MUNSEE COMMUNITY

Defendants.

____________________________________________________________________________ 

PLAINTIFF’S RESPONSE BRIEF IN OPPOSITION TO DEFENDANT,
STOCKBRIDGE-MUNSEE COMMUNITY MOTION TO DISMISS COMPLAINT

____________________________________________________________________________ 

Elton Louis, by his attorney, Ryan D. Lister, pursuant to Civil L.R. 7.1 (b).,files this

Response Brief and Affidavit of Elton Louis, dated August 15, 2008.

THE COMPLAINT

Plaintiff  is licensed as a Clinical Social Worker (LCSW) and has a master’s

degree in social work (MSSW).  (Complaint, ¶ 401).

The Defendant owns and operates a Health and Wellness Center.  The Health and

Wellness Center provides a broad range of health care services, including medical, dental,

AODA counseling, mental health counseling, chiropractic services, and other services.  Said

services are provided to non-Indians on a fee for services basis.  The Health and Wellness Center

is an extra-governmental activity of the Defendant and involves non-Indians.  (Id. ¶ 402).  The

Defendant employees non-Indians and non-tribal members at the Health and Wellness Center. 

(Id. ¶ 403).

Defendant’s Health and Wellness Center is open to non-Indians as well as tribal

members.  Said Center provides services to non-Indians in the Bowler, Shawano County,

Wisconsin area  and surrounding areas.  (Id. ¶ 404).
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The Health and Wellness Center, owned by the defendant, is certified by the State

of Wisconsin to provide out patient treatment, mental health counseling and AODA services to

the general public.  (Affidavit of Elton Louis, dated August 15, 2008, ¶ 6).

The Health and Wellness Center, as a certified clinic, is able to bill insurance

companies, Medicare and Medicaid for services provided tribal members and members of the

general public.  (Id. ¶ 7).

From August, 1998 to June 2, 2000, the plaintiff was employed by the Defendant as a

Mental Health Worker, at its Health and Wellness Center.  (Complaint, ¶ 405).  On June 2, 2000,

the plaintiff’s employment with the Defendant was terminated by the Defendant.  (Id. ¶406).  The

termination of the plaintiff by the Defendant was in violation of the following rights guaranteed

by § 53.3, Stockbridge - Munsee Tribal Law Employee Rights Ordinance:

a. Pursuant to § 53.3 (m), Stockbridge - Munsee Tribal Law Employee

Rights Ordinance, the plaintiff was terminated from his employment without just

cause.  

b. The plaintiff was not afforded the counseling and corrective actions

required pursuant to § 7 of the Information Handbook for Employees of Mohican

Nation, effective October 1, 1996.

c. Prior suspensions of the plaintiff were in violation of § 7, Types of

Counseling and Corrective Action, Information Handbook for Employees of

Mohican Nation, effective October 1, 1996.  (Id ¶ 407).

After his termination by the defendant on June 2, 2000, the plaintiff applied for and

received unemployment benefits from the State of Wisconsin.  The benefits were paid as a result

of his employment at the Stockbridge-Munsee Health and Wellness Center.  (Affidavit of Elton

Louis, dated August 15, 2008, ¶ 8.

On June 27, 2000, the plaintiff filed a Petition for Reinstatement with the

Stockbridge-Munsee Tribal Court.  (Complaint, ¶415).

On January 6, 2005, the Stockbridge-Munsee Tribal Court entered a Decision and

Order in this matter.  (Id. ¶ 416).  In said Decision and Order, the Tribal Court held as follows:

Based upon testimony and exhibit document presented at the trial
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on July 16/17, 2000 and July 21, 2003, the Court finds that the Plaintiff did
establish by a preponderance of the evidence that Mr. Louis was terminated
without cause.  The termination of Elton Louis as Stockbridge-Munsee Mental
Health Counselor with the Stockbridge-Munsee Health Center/Community was
terminated without cause.

The Court further awards the Plaintiff the following relief:

1.  Reinstatement to petitioner’s position as Mental Health Counselor
2.  Back pay for one year from date of termination.
3.  Reinstatement to all previous benefits, including retirement, health insurance,
paid time off and any other benefit that petitioner previously received pursuant to
his employment.  (Id, Exhibit A).

The Tribe appealed the Decision and Order, dated January 6, 2005.  On February

13, 2006, the Stockbridge-Munsee Tribal Court of Appeals issued an Order to Remand.  (Id.

¶417).  In said Order to Remand, the Court of Appeals held as follows:

This Court finds the Trial Court’s decision deficient in its factual deductions and
application of law.  Therefore, this Court remands the instant case with
instructions to thoroughly explain the reasons why the Trial Court adopted a
particular version of the facts, and next explain how said facts demonstrate
unfairness, impartiality of inconsistency as articulated within the case law.  (Id.
Exhibit B).

On December 1, 2006, the trial court entered a second Decision and Order in this matter. 

(Id. ¶ 418).  In said decision and order, the trial court awarded the plaintiff, Elton Louis, the

following relief:

a. Reinstatement to plaintiff’s position as Mental Health Counselor.

b. Back pay for one year from date of termination.

c. Reinstatement to all previous benefits, including retirement, health
insurance, paid time off and any other benefit that plaintiff previously
received pursuant to his employment.  (Id. Exhibit C).

On December 6, 2006, the Tribe, by Attorney Doug Huck, filed a Notice of Appeal and

Request for Injunctive Relief.  (Id. ¶ 419).  On December 6, 2006, the plaintiff, Elton Louis filed
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a Notice of Motion and Motion for Return to Work and Payment of Back-pay.  (Id. 420).

On December 7, 2006, the Tribe filed a Response to Plaintiff’s Notice of Motion and

Motion for Return to Work and Payment of Back-pay.  (Id. ¶ 421).  On December 7, 2006, the

plaintiff, Elton Louis filed a Notice of Motion and Motion for Injunctive Relief Pending Appeal. 

In said motion, the plaintiff requested that the court grant injunctive relief pending appeal

directing the defendant, Stockbridge-Munsee Community to pay the plaintiff, Elton Louis, back-

pay for one year from the date of termination and reinstating Elton Louis to his position as

mental health counselor.  (Id. ¶ 422).  Also on December 7, 2006, the plaintiff filed Petitioner,

Elton Louis’ Brief in Support of Petitioner’s Motion for Injunctive Relief Pending Appeal and In

Opposition to Defendant Tribe’s Request for Injunctive Relief.  (Id. ¶ 423).

On December 8, 2006, the Tribe filed a Response to Petitioner’s Motion Opposing

Appellate Review and Injunction.  (Id. ¶ 424).

On December 12, 2006, the Stockbridge-Munsee Tribal Court of Appeals filed an Order

of Stay.  (Id. ¶ 425).

In reviewing the Order of Stay ( Exhibit J), the Court of Appeals only addressed the

Notice of Appeal and request by the Tribe to postpone the requirement of a cash deposit and a

stay of all provisions of the trial courts decision.  Said order of stay does not indicate that the

Court of Appeals considered any of the motions for injunctive relief filed by the plaintiff.  (Id. ¶

427).

The Mohican Nation Stockbridge-Munsee Band of Indians Tribal Court of

Appeals issued a Decision of the Court, dated January 16, 2008.  (Id. ¶ 428).  In said decision,

The Tribal Court of Appeals reversed the trial court decision.  (Id. Exhibit K).
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The Decision of the Court, dated January 16, 2008, by the Mohican Nation

Stockbridge-Munsee Band of Indians Tribal Court of Appeals denied the plaintiff due process of

law.  (Id. ¶ 429).  Plaintiff filed a Motion to Reconsider Tribal Court of Appeals Decision Dated

January 16, 2008.  (Id. ¶ 430).   Said Decision violated the requirement of due process of law for

the reasons stated in the Motion To Reconsider Tribal Court of Appeals Decision Dated January

16, 2008.  (Id. ¶ 429).  In said motion, the plaintiff submitted thirteen (13) pages of facts and

arguments demonstrating that the Decision of the Court denied the plaintiff due process. A copy

of said Motion To Reconsider Tribal Court of Appeals Decision Dated January 16, 2008 is

attached hereto as Exhibit L.  (Plaintiff is following the Exhibit format of the complaint.)

On March 7, 2008, the defendant filed Defendant’s Response in Opposition to

Appellate Review.  (Id. ¶ 431).

ARGUMENT

A. Impairment of Tribal Sovereignty is Negligible in this Context, as the Tribe’s

Activity was Primary Commercial.

The Health and Wellness Center provides services to the general public.  It employs non-

tribal members.  It is certified by the State of Wisconsin to provide out patient treatment, mental

health counseling and AODA services to the general public.  The Center, as a certified clinic, is

able to bill insurance companies, Medicare and Medicaid for services provided tribal members

and members of the general public.

This situation is analogous to the situation in San Manuel Indian Bingo and Casino v.

NLRB, 475 F.3d 1306 (D.C. Cir. 2007).  The issue in San Manuel Indian Bingo and Casino was

whether the National Labor Relations Board may apply the National Labor Relations Act to
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employment at a casino the San Manuel Band of Serrano Mission Indians operates on its

reservation.  San Manuel owns and operates the San Manuel Indian Bingo and Casino on its

reservation.  The Tribe actively directs its marketing efforts to non-Indians.  Many, and perhaps

the great majority of the casino’s patrons are nonmembers who come from outside the

reservation.  Given the casino’s size, the Tribe employs a significant number of non-members to

ensure effective operation.  

The San Manuel casino was established by the San Manuel tribal government as a tribal

governmental economic development project and it operates pursuant to the Indian Gaming

Regulatory Act of 1988., which authorizes gaming on tribal lands expressly as a means of

promoting tribal economic development, self-sufficiency, and strong tribal governments.

The Court concluded that application of the NLRA to the San Manuel Casino would not

significantly impair tribal sovereignty, and therefore federal Indian law does not preclude the

Board from applying the NLRA.  The Court relied on the fact that the casino is a purely

commercial enterprise, it employs significant numbers of non-Indians and caters to a non-Indian

clientele who live off the reservation.  San Manuel Indian Bingo and Casino, 475 F.3d at 1318-

1319.

The Supreme Court considered the application of state law to Indian activities in

Organized Village of Kake v. Egan, 369 U.S. 60, 7 L. Ed. 2d 573 (1962).  In that case, Alaska

sought to apply its state law to regulate certain fish traps operated by the Thlinget Indians in non-

reservation waters.  The Supreme Court concluded “that even on reservations state laws may be

applied to Indians unless such application would interfere with reservation self-government or

impair a right granted or reserved by federal law.”  Id at 75-76.  The Supreme Court reaffirmed
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the same principle in Mescalero Apache Tribe v. Jones,  411 U.S. 145, 36 L. Ed. 2d 114 (1973).

Impairment of tribal sovereignty is negligible in this case.  The Health and Wellness

Center is certified by the State of Wisconsin.  It obtains insurance payments from companies,

Medicare and Medicaid for services provided to tribal members and members of the general

public.  Further, the defendant was subject to the unemployment laws of the State of Wisconsin

regarding the employment of the plaintiff at the Health and Wellness Center.

Therefore, the defendant is not immune from suit under the doctrine of sovereign

immunity.

B. The Court has Subject Matter and Personal Jurisdiction Over The Tribe.

At the time of his termination, the plaintiff’s yearly salary with the Stockbridge-Munsee

Health and Wellness Center was approximately $45,000.00.  His wage lost from June 2000 to

date exceeds $360,000.00.  ((Affidavit of Elton Louis, dated August 15, 2008, ¶ 9).

The plaintiff has alleged a federal question and has damages in excess of $75,000.00. 

Therefore, the Court has authority to hear the present matter.

C. The Tribe Is Subject to the Wisconsin Fair Employment Act.

As stated in Argument A above, the defendant is not immune from suit under the doctrine

of sovereign immunity.  It has obtained certification from the State of Wisconsin to operate its

clinic.  It is subject to the unemployment laws of the State of Wisconsin for the wages paid the

plaintiff at the Stockbridge-Munsee Health and Wellness Center.  The undersigned counsel is not

aware of any State of Wisconsin case where the WFEA was applied in these unique

circumstances.  However, given the nature of the clinic, its certification by the State of

Wisconsin and being subject to unemployment laws, the WFEA would also apply.
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Public Law 280, 25 U.S.C. §1360, confers criminal and civil adjudicatory jurisdiction

over Indians.  As held in San Manuel Indian Bingo and Casino v. NLRB, 475 F.3d 1306 (D.C.

Cir. 2007), the NLRA applies to employment at an Indian casino.  By analogy, the WFEA would

apply to employees at a clinic operated by the tribe under the circumstances alleged by the

plaintiff.

CONCLUSION

The plaintiff has stated a federal question and has damages in excess of $75,000.00.  The

defendant is not immune from suit under the doctrine of sovereign immunity.  The decisions by

the Tribal Court of Appeals has denied the defendant due process of law.  Therefore, the plaintiff

respectfully requests that the Court enter an order denying the Tribe’s Motion to Dismiss in this

matter.

Dated this 18th day of August 2008.

___________________________________
Ryan D. Lister
Attorney for Plaintiff
State Bar No. 1017025

408 3rd Street, Suite 202
Wausau, Wisconsin 54403
(715) 298-2551
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